
    
LOWNDES COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  

MINUTES  
WORK SESSION 

Monday, March 13, 2023  
  

  

 
COMMISSIONERS PRESENT  
Chairman Bill Slaughter  
Vice Chairman Scott Orenstein  
Commissioner Joyce Evans  
Commissioner Mark Wisenbaker  
Commissioner Demarcus Marshall  
Commissioner Clay Griner  
  
Chairman Slaughter called the meeting to order at 8:30 a.m.  
      
PROBATION RECOGNITION 
County Manager, Paige Dukes, introduced Probation Director, Ferlisha Rountree.  Mrs. Rountree 
addressed the Commission regarding the Annual Misdemeanor Probation Oversight Unit (MPOU) 
Audit which was in August with the results being received in November and Lowndes County 
Probation Department passed.  Additionally, Mrs. Rountree stated the mid-winter training which she 
and her probation officers attended for the Annual Georgia Professional Association of Community 
Supervision (GPACS) was held in Pine Mountain, Georgia this past February.  Mrs. Rountree 
mentioned that Lowndes County had the most probation officers in attendance and thanked the 
Commissioners and County Manager for allowing them to attend the conference.  
   
MINUTES      

The minutes were presented for the work session of February 13, 2023 and the regular session of 
February 14, 2023.  No changes to the minutes were requested.   
   
PUBLIC HEARING      

REZ-2023-03 Flannigan, ~8.0 acres, James Road & Smith Street, R-1 to P-D, County Utilities,  
County Planner, J.D. Dillard, presented the item.  Mr. Dillard stated this request represents a change 
in zoning on the subject property from Low Density Residential (R-1) zoning to Planned Development 
(P-D) zoning, for a 144-unit apartment complex and amenities being six buildings with three stories 
each.  This property is within the urban service area and a neighborhood activity center character area 
according to the Comprehensive Plan Future Development Map, which permits P-D zoning.  Mr. Dillard 
stated there were no wetlands on the property and the infrastructure is provided for County utilities.  
Mr. Dillard stated the main entrance to the apartment complex is on Smith Street and secondary 
access is located to the southwest off of James Road.  The applicant is proposing to maintain many 
trees currently lining the site.  Mr. Dillard stated the Planning Commission recommended denial and 
the TRC had no objectionable comments.  Commissioner Marshall asked if the current zoning would 
allow for two stories versus three stories, Mr. Dillard answered that the current building height for 



2 
 

single family residential does allow for two stories up to thirty-five feet.  Commissioner Griner stated it 
would have to be single family residential, not an apartment complex, Mr. Dillard answered correct.  
Vice Chairman Orenstein asked for more detail as to why six members of the Planning Commission 
board voted to deny this request, Mr. Dillard responded the main concern and motion was focused on 
Commissioner Willis and the resources being out of character for the area and recognizing most of 
the surrounding buildings were one story single family, larger lots and the idea that a three-story 
complex seemed a drastic departure from the neighborhood.  Commissioner Wisenbaker asked when 
was James Road rebuilt, Mrs. Dukes responded it was widened in 2009.  Chairman Slaughter stated 
there is infrastructure that has been invested on James Road, not only by the City of Valdosta on the 
north end, but also by Lowndes County.  Chairman Slaughter stated James Road is a four-lane 
highway, with a newly built school, Westside Elementary, and this is potentially going to be a growth 
area.  Commissioner Marshall asked as far as plans to widen or improve Smith Street, Chairman 
Slaughter answered there are no plans at this time.  Commissioner Marshall asked if approved, with 
144 units, most units could have up to two vehicles and with the number of vehicles being added to 
travel Smith Street improvements will be needed, Chairman Slaughter stated it would be addressed 
at that time.  Commissioner Evans stated at the Planning Commission meeting one of the concerns 
was the traffic on Smith Street.  Commissioner Evans stated citizens mentioned the traffic during 
school hours.  Vice Chairman Orenstein asked if the engineers were opposed to entering and exiting 
onto James Road, Mr. Dillard stated the main reason for the Smith Street entrance is to get the traffic 
off of James Road.  Chairman Slaughter asked if the TRC had no objections, there would be no 
objections to the Smith Street entrance at this point, Director of Engineering Services, Chad McLeod 
answered that is correct.  
   
Addition to Basic Decorative Lighting District: Ballantyne Subdivision (81 lots) and Quarterman 
Estates Subdivision, Phase 4, Section 1 (27 lots),            
County Planner, J.D. Dillard, presented the item.  Mr. Dillard stated this request has been advertised 
as required and staff recommends approval of adding the eighty-one (81) lots of the Ballantyne 
Subdivision and twenty-seven (27) lots of Quarterman Estates Subdivision, Phase 4, Section 1 into 
the County's basic decorative street lighting district.  Mr. Dillard stated the current charge for the basic 
decorative street lighting is $61.50 per lot, per year.  
   
FOR CONSIDERATION      

Dell Laptop Lease for Signature, IT Director, Aaron Kostyu, presented a lease agreement schedule 
in the amount of $150,900.00, over a three-year period.  Mr. Kostyu stated the actual purchase was 
approved at the Commission's January 9, 2023, regular meeting.  
 
Abandonment of a Section of Hightower Road, Director of Engineering Services, Chad McLeod, 
presented the item.  Mr. McLeod stated as part of the Hightower Road TIA project, staff worked with 
Moody Air Force Base to relocate a section of Hightower Road for the purposes of promoting security 
of aircraft at Moody Air Force Base.  This project anticipates abandoning the highlighted 1693.52 foot 
section of the road located approximate to Moody Air Force Base.  Mr. McLeod stated in order for a 
section of county road to be abandoned, Georgia Statute requires an initial determination either (a) 
"that the section of the county road system has for any reason ceased to be used by the public to the 
extent that no substantial public purpose is served by it" or (b) "that its removal from the county road 
system is otherwise in the best public interest," or both.  If the Board makes either or both of these 
determinations, the statute provides for notice to adjoining property owners, notice to the public by 
newspaper publication, and a public hearing.  Mr. McLeod stated removing the highlighted section of 
Hightower Road from the county road system is in the best public interest for the reason that it will 



3 
 

promote the security of aircraft at Moody Air Force Base.  Commissioner Marshall asked who the 
owner was to the east, Mr. McLeod responded Mr. Billy Atkinson, which he leases to Moody Air Force 
Base. Commissioner Marshall asked if Mr. Atkinson had any objections, Mr. McLeod answered no sir.  
Mr. McLeod stated that once a determination is made by the board, staff will notify Mr. Atkinson of the 
public hearing.  Chairman Slaughter stated the Hightower and Cooper Road project is important to 
the citizens but also Moody Air Force Base and with this section of Hightower Road, this has been a 
negative mark when receiving their security inspections.  Chairman Slaughter stated this is an 
opportunity with TIA to make improvements on those roads to move forward with the closing of this 
section for the security of Moody Air Force Base.  Commissioner Marshall asked regarding closing 
the remaining area on Hightower Road, Chairman Slaughter responded through the paving of 
Hightower Road and the realigning everyone could leave on the west end of Hightower Road.  
   
BID    

Kinderlou Offsite Well Emergency Repair, Utilities Director, Steve Stalvey, presented the item.  Mr. 
Stalvey stated the offsite Kinderlou well utilizes a line shaft turbine pump.  Staff noticed during routine 
maintenance that excessive noise and vibration occurred when the pump was running.  Mr. Stalvey 
stated Goforth Pump Service Company submitted a quote for $26,585.50 for supplies, labor and 
equipment to complete the job.  
   
Francis Lake Sewer Rehab, Utilities Director, Steve Stalvey, presented the item.  Mr. Stalvey stated 
after an emergency repair last year on a section of gravity sewer, staff determined that 2,200 feet of 
the sewer main at Francis Lake was in need of repair.  Mr. Stalvey stated four bids were received with 
Insituform Technologies, Inc. submitting the low bid in the amount of $225,910.30. Chairman Slaughter 
asked if the citizens on Golf Drive would have any interruptions during this sewer rehab, Mr. Stalvey 
responded minimal, since they will be doing a section at a time in between manholes. Commissioner 
Wisenbaker asked if the County had used this company before, Mr. Stalvey responded no sir, but they 
are very well known for this type of work.  Commissioner Wisenbaker asked where this company was 
located, Mr. Stalvey stated he was unsure, but would verify before tomorrow night's meeting.  
Chairman Slaughter mentioned to his knowledge this process hasn't been used in Lowndes County, 
even though the City of Valdosta has used this process extensively.  
 
Val-Del Water Main Extension, Utilities Director, Steve Stalvey, presented a request to extend the 
watermain on Val-Del Road from Lucas Richardson Road to McMillan Road.  This work involves the 
installation of approximately 7,250 linear feet of 16" HDPE water main, fire hydrants, valves, bores 
and all other appurtenances necessary to complete this project.  Mr. Stalvey stated James Warren 
and Associates, Inc. submitted the low bid in the amount of $980,051.00 and Radney Plumbing, Inc. 
(RPI) was the next lowest bidder in the amount of $1,227,670.25.  Vice Chairman Orenstein asked if 
this was all the way to McMillan Road, Mr. Stalvey answered yes.  Chairman Slaughter stated this is 
phase one of tying in going down McMillan Road to tie in Bemiss Road. Vice Chairman Orenstein 
asked if this was the north side of McMillan Road, Mr. Stalvey responded yes.  
   
REPORTS - County Manager  
There was no additional information reported.  
     
ADJOURNMENT 
Commissioner Wisenbaker made a motion to adjourn the work session meeting, Commissioner Evans 
second.  Chairman Slaughter adjourned the meeting at 9:02 a.m.  
   


